8-1-87

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 70,687

THIRD DISTRICT COURT
OF APPEAL NO. 86-538

FRANCIS H. KEYES, ET UX.,

Petitioners,

vs.

FULTON MANUFACTURING
CORPORATION, ETC.,

Respondent.

FILED
SID J. WHITE
JUL 9 1987
CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By _____
Deputy Clerk

BRIEF OF PETITIONERS ON THE MERITS

(CERTIFIED QUESTIONS)

HORTON, PERSE & GINSBERG
and
BRUMER, COHEN, LOGAN, KANDELL,
KAUFMAN & MORALES, P.A.
Attorneys for Petitioners
410 Concord Building
66 West Flagler Street
Miami, Florida 33130
(305) 358-0427

INTRODUCTION

The petitioners, FRANCIS H. KEYES and RUTH KEYES, his wife, were the appellants in the Third District Court of Appeal and were the plaintiffs in the trial court. The respondent, FULTON MANUFACTURING CORP., a foreign corporation, was the appellee/defendant. In this certified question merits brief of petitioners the parties will be referred to as the plaintiff and the defendant and, alternatively, by name. The symbols "R" and "A" will refer to the record on appeal and the rule-required appendix which accompanies this brief, respectively. All emphasis has been supplied by counsel unless indicated to the contrary.

II.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The subject matter of this proceeding is the Florida Statute of Repose. The District Court of Appeal, Third District, has certified to this Court that the instant cause presents questions of great public importance and has made such certification after affirming the summary final judgment appealed (R. 174, 176, 177).

* * *

SUMMARY FINAL JUDGMENT

THIS CAUSE came on to be heard on January 15, 1986, after notice to the parties upon Motion for Summary Final Judgment filed by Defendant, FULTON MANUFACTURING CORPORATION. The Court, having considered the motion, having heard argument of counsel, having reviewed the law deemed pertinent by

the parties, having reviewed the court file in its entirety and being otherwise fully advised in the premises, grants the Defendant's motion.

The Defendant seeks summary final judgment predicated upon the affirmative defense, limitation of action, specifically § 95.031(2), Florida Statutes (1979), the products liability Statute of Repose recently upheld as constitutional in the case of PULLUM v. CINCINNATI, INC., 476 So. 2d 657 (Fla. 1985).

The Plaintiffs opposed the Defendant's Motion for Summary Final Judgment and argued, inter alia:

1. PULLUM v. CINCINNATI, INC. was wrongly decided;

2. PULLUM v. CINCINNATI, INC. cannot either legally or constitutionally be applied retroactively to them;

3. § 95.031(2), Florida Statutes (1979) is unconstitutional for due process and equal protection reasons under both the United States and Florida Constitutions; and

4. § 95.031(2), Florida Statutes (1979), the subject statute of repose, is unconstitutionally vague, ambiguous and incapable of definite application. It is, on its face, unconstitutional. The statute therefore denies equal protection to ultimate consumers and/or ultimate users.

This Court, being bound as it is by the Florida Supreme Court's recent opinion in PULLUM v. CINCINNATI, INC., having directly passed upon the constitutionality of § 95.031(2), Florida Statutes (1979), does reject the Plaintiff's challenges to the Defendant's Motion for Summary Final Judgment and the Motion for Summary Final Judgment is granted.

Based upon all of the above, it is hereupon

ORDERED AND ADJUDGED:

The Defendant's Motion for Summary Final Judgment be and the same is hereby granted and judgment is entered in favor of the Defendant, FULTON MANUFACTURING CORPORATION, and against the Plaintiffs.

The Court reserves jurisdiction to tax costs upon motion duly made."

* * *

The sequence of events pertinent to this Court's review may be stated as follows:

A. The product (a trailer and winch combination) was purchased (by the plaintiff) on August 3, 1971 (R. 28, paragraph 3);

B. The plaintiff was allegedly injured as a result of the failure of the product on February 15, 1984 (R. 28, paragraph 2);

C. This law suit was filed on May 10, 1984 (R. 1-4);

D. The plaintiff sued the defendant alleging numerous theories of recovery. Included therein was an allegation of negligent failure to warn (R. 1-4, paragraph 7a.);

E. After this Court rendered its opinion in *PULLUM v. CINCINNATI, INC.*, 476 So. 2d 657 (Fla. 1985) [wherein this Court receded from its prior opinion in *BATILLA v. ALLIS CHALMERS MANUFACTURING CO.*, 392 So. 2d 874 (Fla. 1980)]--*PULLUM* decided August 29, 1985, rehearing denied November 4, 1985--the defendant sought (from the trial court) and received leave to amend its answer to include an affirmative defense of "Statute of Repose" (R. 23, 25-27);

F. The defendant filed Motion for Summary Judgment on the sole ground that § 95.031(2), Florida Statutes, barred the cause of action (R. 28-30). It is undisputed that the plaintiff sustained physical injury outside of twelve (12)

years from the date of purchase. The trial court granted the defendant's motion and entered the order set out in full, supra.

G. The plaintiff appealed to the Third District Court of Appeal, which court affirmed the summary final judgment and certified this case to this Court.

The plaintiff reserves the right to argue the significance of the above facts and other relevant record facts in the argument portion of this brief.

III.

QUESTIONS CERTIFIED

A.

WHETHER THE LEGISLATIVE AMENDMENT OF § 95.031(2), FLORIDA STATUTES (1983), ABOLISHING THE STATUTE OF REPOSE IN PRODUCT LIABILITY ACTIONS, SHOULD BE CONSTRUED TO OPERATE RETROSPECTIVELY AS TO A CAUSE OF ACTION WHICH ACCRUED BEFORE THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE AMENDMENT.

B.

IF NOT, WHETHER THE DECISION OF PULLUM v. CINCINNATI, INC., 476 SO. 2D 657 (FLA. 1985), APPEAL DISMISSED, U.S. _____, 106 S.CT. 1626, 90 L.Ed. 2D 174 (1986), WHICH OVERRULED BATTILA V. ALLIS CHALMERS MFG. CO., 392 SO. 2D 874 (FLA. 1980), APPLIES SO AS TO BAR A CAUSE OF ACTION THAT ACCRUED AFTER THE BATTILA DECISION BUT BEFORE THE PULLUM DECISION.

IV.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The plaintiff suggests to this Court the questions certified require consideration and resolution of the following issues:

A.

WHETHER THE DECISION RENDERED BY THIS COURT IN PULLUM V. CINCINNATI, INC., SUPRA, HAS BEEN INVALIDATED BY A SUBSEQUENT CLARIFICATION OF LEGISLATIVE INTENT.

B.

WHETHER THE DECISION RENDERED BY THIS COURT IN PULLUM V. CINCINNATI, INC., SUPRA, CAN BE CONSTITUTIONALLY APPLIED TO THE FACTS OF THIS CASE SO AS TO EXTINGUISH PLAINTIFFS' ACCRUED CAUSE OF ACTION.

C.

ASSUMING ARGUENDO THAT PULLUM V. CINCINNATI, INC., SUPRA, COULD BE CONSTITUTIONALLY APPLIED TO A CASE SUCH AS THIS--WHETHER ON THIS RECORD, PROPERLY VIEWED, THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RENDERING, ON REPOSE GROUNDS, THE SUMMARY FINAL JUDGMENT APPEALED.

V.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The opinion of the District Court of Appeal, Third District, must be quashed because:

A. The Florida Legislature, immediately post-PULLUM, amended the time bar statute construed in PULLUM to clarify its intent, thereby rendering PULLUM invalid;

B. PULLUM cannot be (Florida or Federal) constitutionally applied to the case at bar so as to extinguish plaintiff's cause of action which accrued and vested post-BATTILA and pre-PULLUM; and

C. In any event PULLUM is factually inapplicable here because plaintiffs' complaint charged the defendant with continuing negligence in the nature of a failure to warn.

VI.

ARGUMENT

A.

THE DECISION RENDERED BY THIS COURT IN PULLUM V. CINCINNATI, INC., HAS BEEN INVALIDATED BY A SUBSEQUENT CLARIFICATION OF LEGISLATIVE INTENT.

The following principles of law regarding statutory construction are well established in Florida:

1. Where reasonable differences arise as to the meaning or application of a statute, legislative intent is "the polestar of judicial construction." *LOWRY v. PAROLE AND PROBATION COM'N*, 473 So. 2d 1248 (Fla. 1985); *TAMPA-HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY EXPRESSWAY AUTHORITY v. K.E. MORRIS ALIGNMENT SERVICES, INC.*, 444 So. 2d 926 (Fla. 1983); *TYSON v. LANIER*, 156 So. 2d 833 (Fla. 1963).

2. When an amendment to a statute is enacted within a relatively short time after controversies have arisen as to the interpretation of the original act, a court may consider that amendment as a legislative interpretation of the original law and not as a substantive change thereof. *LOWRY v. PAROLE AND PROBATION COM'N*, *supra*, and cases cited therein.

3. The courts will avoid an interpretation or construction of a statute which will produce an unreasonable result or render its operation unjust or unfair. See 49 Fla. Jur. 2d, Statutes, §§ 183 and 184.

4. The Florida statute of limitations for product liability cases is Section 95.11(3)(e). It contains no repose provi-

sion. The product statute of repose is Section 95.031, Florida Statutes. That statute contains the following pertinent provisions:

* * *

"95.031 Computation of time.

"Except as provided in subsection (2) and in s. 95.051 and elsewhere in these statutes, the time within which an action shall be begun under any statute of limitations runs from the time the cause of action accrues.

* * *

"(2) Actions for products liability and fraud under s. 95.11(3) must be begun within the period prescribed in this chapter, with the period running from the time the facts giving rise to the cause of action were discovered or should have been discovered with the exercise of due diligence, instead of running from any date prescribed elsewhere in s. 95.11(3), but in any event within 12 years after the date of delivery of the completed product to its original purchaser or within 12 years after the date of the commission of the alleged fraud, regardless of the date the defect in the product or the fraud was or should have been discovered."

* * *

5. PULLUM v. CINCINNATI, INC. was decided on August 29, 1985. The decision did not become final until November 4, 1985, when rehearing was denied. Immediately upon becoming aware that this Court had misconstrued its intent, the Florida Legislature amended § 95.031, supra, deleting the repose provisions therefrom. See Chapter 86-272, Laws of Florida, House Bill No. 832. A copy of the bill is reproduced hereat:

CHAPTER

104-221-3-4

88-272

CS/HB222, First Engrossed

Committee Substitute for House Bill No. 882

1	A bill to be entitled	1.000
2	An act relating to limitations of actions;	1.0
3	amending s. 96.11, F.S.; reducing the time	
4	within which actions for libel and slander must	1.5
5	be commenced; amending s. 96.031, F.S.;	
6	deleting a limitation upon the initiation of	1.6
7	actions for products liability; providing an	
8	effective date.	
9		
10	Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida:	1.000
11		
12	Section 1. Paragraph (c) of subsection (3) of section	1.7
13	96.11, Florida Statutes, is amended, and paragraph (g) is	
14	added to subsection (c) of said section, to read:	1.8
15	96.11 Limitations other than for the recovery of real	1.0
16	property.--Actions other than for recovery of real property	1.10
17	shall be commenced as follows:	1.11
18	(3) WITHIN FOUR YEARS.--	1.12
19	(c) An action for libel, slander, assault, battery,	1.14
20	false arrest, malicious prosecution, malicious interference,	1.15
21	false imprisonment, or any other intentional tort, except as	1.16
22	provided in subsection (5).	
23	(4) WITHIN TWO YEARS.--	1.17
24	(g) <u>An action for libel or slander.</u>	1.17
25	Section 2. Subsection (3) of section 96.031, Florida	1.17
26	Statutes, is amended to read:	1.20
27	96.031 Computation of time.--Except as provided in	1.0
28	subsection (3) and in s. 96.031 and elsewhere in these	1.22
29	statutes, the time within which an action shall be begun under	1.23
30	any statute of limitations runs from the time the cause of	1.24
31	action accrues.	

104-221-3-4

CS/HB222, First Engrossed

appealed.

directions to that court to reverse the summary final judgment

trict Court of Appeal, Third District, should be quashed with

PULLUM should now be deemed a nullity. The opinion of the Dis-

tion. As a consequence of the expression of legislative intent

Legislative intent in deciding PULLUM. PULLUM was an aberration

The Legislature has told this Court that it misinterpreted

1 (2) Actions for products liability and fraud under a.
2 chapter, with the period running from the time the facts
3 giving rise to the cause of action were discovered or should
4 have been discovered with the exercise of due diligence.
5 Instead of running from any date prescribed elsewhere in a.
6 99.11(2), but in any event no action for fraud under a.
7 99.11(2) shall be begun within 10 years after the date of
8 delivery of the completed product to the original purchaser or
9 within 10 years after the date of the commission of the
10 alleged fraud, regardless of the date the defect in the
11 product or the fraud was or should have been discovered.
12 Section 3. Section 1 of this act shall take effect
13 October 1, 1994, and shall apply to causes of action occurring
14 after that date, and Section 2 of this act shall take effect
15 July 1, 1994.
16 Approved by the Governor
17 JUL 9 1994
18 Read in Office Secretary of State
19 JUL 9 1994

B.

THE DECISION RENDERED BY THIS COURT IN PULLUM
V. CINCINNATI CANNOT BE CONSTITUTIONALLY
APPLIED TO THE FACTS OF THIS CASE SO AS TO
EXTINGUISH PLAINTIFFS' ACCRUED CAUSE OF ACTION.

1.

PULLUM CANNOT BE FLORIDA CONSTITUTIONALLY APPLIED TO
THE INSTANT CAUSE.

Under Florida law a subsequent case constitutionally con-
struing a statute may not be retroactively applied if such
application will destroy vested rights which a party acquired
under a prior court construction of the statute. In the case
of FLORIDA FOREST & PARK SERVICE v. STRICKLAND, 18 So. 2d 251
(Fla. 1944), this Court long ago held:

* * *

"Where a statute has received a given con-
struction by a court of supreme jurisdiction and
property or contract rights have been acquired
under and in accordance with such construction,
such rights should not be destroyed by giving to
a subsequent overruling decision a retrospective
operation." 18 So. 2d at p. 253.

* * *

In accord: DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE v. ANDERSON, 389 So. 2d 1034
(Fla.App.1st 1980) and INTERNATIONAL STUDIO APARTMENT ASSOCIA-
TION v. LOCKWOOD, 421 So. 2d 1119 (Fla.App.4th 1982).

The pertinent sequence of events demonstrate:

a. BATILLA v. ALLIS-CHALMERS MFG. CO. was decided on
December 11, 1980. In BATILLA this Court held that there
existed an unconstitutional denial of access to the courts when
the subject statute of repose acted as an absolute bar to
a cause of action which did not accrue or vest until after ex-
piration of the repose period;

B. The injury to the subject plaintiff occurred on February 15, 1984--the date upon which plaintiff's cause of action accrued and vested;

C. PULLUM was not decided until August 29, 1985, after the plaintiff's cause of action had accrued and vested.

The District Court's opinion must be quashed.

2.

PULLUM CANNOT BE FEDERALLY CONSTITUTIONALLY APPLIED
TO THE INSTANT CAUSE

GEORGE v. FIRESTONE TIRE & RUBBER CO., United States District Court for the Northern District of Florida, Case No. GCA 85-0117-MMP, decided by Federal Judge Maurice M. Paul, is directly in point and highly persuasive here. Copies of the orders entered by Judge Paul in that case are appended to this brief for the convenience of this Court (A. 1-13). The plaintiff concedes that Judge Paul's decision is not controlling here. However, Judge Paul's decision presently pends on the merits in the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit, Case No. 86-3629. Any decision rendered by that Court would control here. The following is a chronology of the facts involved in GEORGE v. FIRESTONE TIRE & RUBBER CO., supra, insofar as that case is pertinent here:

a. Prior to January 1, 1975, and more than twelve years prior to March 2, 1982--the product involved in GEORGE was delivered to its original purchaser;

b. Effective January 1, 1975--Chapter 95.11, Florida Statutes, was amended to create a twelve-year statute of repose

in product liability cases;

c. March 1, 1979--this Court decided OVERLAND CONSTRUCTION CO. v. SIRMONS, 369 So. 2d 572 (Fla. 1979), an action based on the design, planning or construction of improvements to real property. This Court held that it worked an unconstitutional denial of access to the courts to apply the subject statute of repose as an absolute bar to a cause of action of one not injured until after expiration of the period of repose;

d. December 11, 1980--this Court decided BATILLA v. ALLIS CHALMERS MFG. CO., supra. This Court held that it worked an unconstitutional denial of access to the courts when the subject statute of repose acted as an absolute bar to a cause of action of one not injured until after expiration of the period of repose;

e. March 2, 1982--more than twelve years after the involved product was delivered to the original purchaser, Thomas L. George was injured by the product;

f. April 10, 1985--George sued Firestone Tire & Rubber;

g. August 29, 1985--after Thomas L. George was injured, (and after he filed suit against Firestone Tire & Rubber Company)--this Court decided PULLUM v. CINCINNATI, INC. (in which it suddenly receded from BATILLA) and held that the statute of repose did not unconstitutionally prevent access to the courts by persons injured more than twelve years after delivery of a product.

The determinative question presented in GEORGE was whether a retroactive application of PULLUM to GEORGE would unconsti-

tutionally extinguish George's accrued and vested cause of action for personal injury. In GEORGE, Judge Paul held that it would. Plaintiff implores this Court to read every word in the GEORGE decision (A. 1-10). Plaintiff adopts the reasoning contained therein as argument here.

Application of the GEORGE reasoning to the facts of the instant cause mandates reinstatement of the plaintiffs' cause of action because the chronology involved here was the following:

a. Effective January 1, 1975--Chapter 95.11, Florida Statutes, was amended to create a twelve-year statute of repose in product liability cases;

b. March 1, 1979--this Court decided OVERLAND CONSTRUCTION CO. v. SERMONS, supra, wherein this Court held that it worked an unconstitutional denial of access to the courts to apply the subject statute of repose as an absolute bar to a cause of action of one not injured until after expiration of the period of repose;

c. December 11, 1980--this Court decided BATILLA v. ALLIS CHALMERS MFG. CO. This Court therein held that it worked an unconstitutional denial of access to the courts when the subject statute of repose acted as an absolute bar to a cause of action of one not injured until after expiration of the period of repose;

d. February 15, 1984--more than twelve years after sale of the subject product, plaintiff sustains a personal injury

and the cause of action for personal injury accrues and vests;

e. May 10, 1984--plaintiff files suit against the defendant;

f. August 29, 1985--after plaintiff's cause vested--this Court decided PULLUM v. CINCINATTI, INC., in which it suddenly receded from BATILLA and held that the statute of repose did not unconstitutionally prevent access to the courts by persons injured more than twelve years after delivery of a product.

The determinative question here is basically the same as that presented in GEORGE. In his second GEORGE order, Judge Paul candidly recognized that his decision was in conflict with those rendered by two other Federal District Court judges.

(A. 11-13). It is submitted, however, that the GEORGE decision is the better reasoned decision and should be followed by this Court.

For the foregoing reasons alone the opinion of the District Court of Appeal, Third District, must be quashed with directions to that court to reverse the summary final judgment appealed and to further direct the trial court to deny to the defendant any affirmative relief predicated upon the subject statute of repose.

C.

ASSUMING ARGUENDO THAT PULLUM V. CINCINNATI, INC. COULD BE CONSTITUTIONALLY APPLIED TO A CASE SUCH AS THIS--ON THIS RECORD, PROPERLY VIEWED, THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RENDERING, ON REPOSE GROUNDS, THE SUMMARY FINAL JUDGMENT APPEALED.

Failing all else, it must be remembered that one cannot repose negligence which has not occurred. For the reasons which follow, PULLUM is at least partially inapposite here in any event:

1. The applicable four-year product statute of limitations, § 95.11(3)(e), supra, applies only to:

* * *

"(e) An action for injury to a person founded on the design, manufacture, distribution or sale of personal property that is not permanently incorporated in an improvement to real property, including fixtures."

* * *

2. What are arguably "reposed" here by former § 95.031, supra, are causes of action for strict liability, breach of implied warranty and negligence in the design or manufacture of the subject product;

3. Plaintiff's complaint has also alleged that the defendant was negligent post the design and manufacturing stage. Simply stated, the plaintiff's allegation of failure to warn, if proved, would establish that the defendant knew, from product use experience, that its product was defective and that the defendant did not warn the public of the existence of the defect.

Assuming that this Court were to answer the certified questions in such a manner as to approve the result reached by the District Court of Appeal, Third District, as pertains to the retroactivity and/or constitutionality of the subject statute of repose, it is respectfully suggested that the opin-

ion of the District Court of Appeal, Third District, must still be quashed and the summary final judgment appealed be reversed because one cannot repose negligence which has not occurred.

VII.

CONCLUSION

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