FULTON MANUFACTURING CORP., etc.,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CASE NO. 86-538

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON MERITS

KIMBRELL & HAMANN, P.A. SUITE 900 BRICKELL CENTRE 799 BRICKELL PLAZA MIAMI, FLORIDA 33131

> ROY D. WASSON Of counsel

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

There was no "clarification" of legislative intent in the amendment of the statute of repose to remove products liability cases from its ambit. Both the original statute of repose and the Act amending it reflect that the Legislature originally had intended to place an outermost limit on the time to sue product manufacturers. The Legislature just changed the law, after the judgment in A new intent is not a "clarification" of an guestion. initial intent. FULTON notes that Petitioners make no argument that they were benefitted by a retroactive application of the substituted policy pronouncement of the Legislature.

All of Florida's District Courts of Appeal and several federal courts have rejected unconstitutionality arguments such as made by Petitioners herein. There was no property right vested by the erroneous holding in *Battilla*, and, thus, no constitutionally-protected interest was violated by applying the valid statute of repose.

A claim against a manufacturer for negligent failure to warn of a product's propensities is a "products liability" action. The manufacturer's duty is founded on its distribution or sale of the product and, hence, squarely within the statue of repose. Common sense dictates that the

-1-

KIMBRELL & HAMANN, P.A.

Legislature intended to bar all claims against a manufacturer arising from such a sale, whether based on allegations of defect in design or manufacture, or on alleged failure to warn incident thereto.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE ENACTMENT OF CHAPTER 86-272, LAWS OF FLORIDA, WAS NOT A CLARIFICATION OF PRIOR LEGISLATIVE INTENT.

There is no merit in Petitioners' argument that -- by enacting Ch. 86.272, Laws of Florida -- the Legislature clarified its original intent with regard to the statute of repose, § 95.031(2), Fla. Stat. (1979). The intent of the Legislature was correctly stated by this Court as follows:

> The [L]egislature, in enacting this statute of repose, reasonably decided that perpetual liability places an undue burden on manufacturers, and it decided that twelve years from the date of sale is a reasonable time for exposure to liability for manufacturing of a product.

Pullum v. Cincinnati, Inc., 476 So.2d 657, 659 (Fla. 1985).

That the original intent of the Legislature was to place an absolute time bar on products liability actions is evident from the unambiguous language of the statute itself:

> Actions for products liability and fraud under s. 95.11(3) must be begun within the period prescribed in this chapter, with the period running from the time the facts giving rise to the cause of action were discovered or should have been discovered with the exercise of due diligence, instead of running from any date prescribed elsewhere in s 95.11(3), but in any event within 12 years after the date of delivery of the completed

> > -3-

product to its original purchaser or within 12 years after the date of commission of the alleged fraud, regardless of the date of the defect in the product or the fraud was or should have been discovered.

Section 95.031(2), Fla. Stat. (1979) (emphasis added).

Further evidence of the original intent of the Legislature is found in the language of the Act amending the bill statute of repose which states: "A to be entitled[:] An [A]ct relating to limitations of actions; . . . deleting a limitation upon the initiation of actions for products liability. . . . " Ch. 86-272, Laws of Florida (1986) (emphasis added). Had the Legislature intended the original statute of repose not to impose such a time limitation, there would have been no need for a legislative deletion of the limitation.

Petitioners do not undertake to explain what they contend the Legislature originally intended. Implicit in their argument is the assumption that the Legislature intended to permit actions sounding in products liability to be brought more than twelve years after a sale. There is neither authority nor reasoning for such a position. Therefore, Petitioners' first argument should be rejected.

Petitioners do not contend that they should be granted relief by a retroactive application of the Legislature's *new*

-4-

KIMBRELL & HAMANN, P.A.

policy pronouncement. Therefore, that question is not before this Court and FULTON makes no argument thereon.

II.

APPLICATION OF THE STATUTE OF REPOSE TO THIS LAWSUIT WAS NOT UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

Petitioners' unconstitutionality argument commences by characterizing the question as whether the *Pullum* decision can be applied retroactively. A more appropriate statement of the question is whether the statute of repose constitutionally can be applied to this case in light of *Battilla v. Allis-Chalmers Mfg. Co.,* 392 So.2d 874 (Fla. 1980).

The focus should be on the constitutionality of the application of the statute because, bluntly put, **Battilla** was wrongly decided. The statute of repose did not "become constitutional" upon the rendition of **Pullum**; the statute was constitutional when it was enacted. "If a decision holding a statute to be unconstitutional is subsequently overruled, the statute will be valid from the date it became effective." **Pait v. Ford Motor Co.**, 500 So.2d 743, 744 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987), citing, Gillespie v. Bay County, 151 So. 10 (Fla. 1933) and State ex rel. Christopher v. Mungen, 55 So. 273, 280 (Fla. 1911). Accord, Shaw v. General Motors Corp., 503 So.2d 362 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987).

-5-

KIMBRELL & HAMANN, P.A.

In *Pait*, the Fifth District rejected constitutional attacks on the application of the statute of repose to cases involving accidents which occurred after the *Battilla* decision, yet prior to *Pullum*. The *Pait* Court found that no "property or contract rights were acquired by the plaintiff here such as would make an exception to this rule [(quoted above)] applicable." 500 So.2d at 744.

In accord with *Pait* and involving the same operative facts as the case at bar are the Second District's decisions in *Smith v. Sturm, Ruger, Smith & Co.*, No. 86-2598 (Fla. 2d DCA 7/17/87) and *Small v. Niagara Machine & Tool Works*, 502 So.2d 943 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987). Mrs. Small was injured after the *Battilla* decision and before *Pullum*. Suit was filed in 1983 and, after the Supreme Court decision in *Pullum*, the trial court granted summary judgment for the manufacturer based on the statute of repose. In rejecting the plaintiff's unconstitutionality argument, the Court held:

> But for **Battilla**, the statute of repose was operative when Mrs. Small was injured in 1982. In light of **Pullum**, we give proper construction to the statute and find that the Small's lawsuit is barred.

502 So.2d at 946.

Even if the question were viewed as one of the retroactively, vel non, of Pullum, the judgment below should

-6-

KIMBRELL & HAMANN, P.A.

be affirmed. Such was the approach (and result) in the First District's case, *Cassidy v. Firestone Tire & Rubber Co.*, 495 So.2d 801 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). The Court held:

Petitioners' action involves an injury which occurred more than twelve years after the allegedly defective product was delivered to the original purchaser, and the action was thus not begun within the period prescribed by section 95.031(2). Both the injury and the commencement of the action occurred subsequent to the Florida Supreme Court's decision in Battilla v. Allis Chalmers Manufacturing Co., 392 So.2d 874 (Fla. 1981).

*

*

Petitioners contend that Pullum should not be given effect in the present case, since appellants' action was filed after the decision in Battilla but prior to the decision in Pullum. However, Petitioners have shown no substantial inequity or which would result unfairness upon application of the **Pullum** ruling, nor does the decision in Pullum suggest that should be limited to prospective it application. As indicated in Florida Forest & Parks Service v. Strickland, 18 251 1944), So.2d (Fla. decisions overruling earlier precedent are given retroactive effect generally whereby judicial construction of a statute is deemed to relate back to the Petitioners enactment of the statute. have shown no cause to depart from the general rule in the present case. We therefore determine that **Pullum** should be given effect and appellants' action is barred by section 95.031(2), Florida Statutes (1982).

495 So.2d at 802 (footnotes deleted).

*

-7-

Another case rejecting constitutional arguments akin to those of Petitioners herein is American Liberty Ins. Co. v. West & Conyers, 491 So.2d 573 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986). No Florida District Courts of Appeal have accepted a constitutional challenge to application of the statute of repose to a case involving an accident occurring between the time of the Battilla decision and the Pullum case.

Concerning Petitioners' argument based on the United States Constitution, FULTON must point out the error in Petitioners' assertion that a decision rendered by the United States Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals "would control here." (See Petitioners' Brief at 11). It would not. This Court has held that a decision of a United States Court of Appeals holding that the application of a Florida Statute violates the Federal Constitution is "not binding on state courts." State v. Dwyer, 332 So.2d 333, 335 (Fla. 1976). See also Ford v. Strickland, 696 F.2d 804 (11th Cir.), cert. denied, 464 U.S. 865, 78 L.Ed.2d 176, 104 S.Ct. 201 (1983).

Petitioners' reliance on the case of *George* v. *Firestone Tire & Rubber Co.*, No. GCA 85-0117-MMP (N.D. Fla. 7/8/86), would appear to invoke the Due Process Clause, the only federal constitutional provision discussed in that case. That provision is not applicable for the same reason

-8-

KIMBRELL & HAMANN, P.A.

that no violation of the Florida Constitution occurred: no property rights "vested" to Plaintiffs below by virtue of the *Battilla* decision. *Pait v. Ford Motor Co.*, 500 So.2d 743 (Fla 5th DCA 1987); *see Cassidy v. Firestone Tire & Rubber Co.*, 495 So.2d 801 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). As held by one of the brethren of the federal trial court judge upon whose reasoning Petitioners rely:

> Pullum, receding from Battilla, held the statute was not unconstitutional. No created by cause of action was the statute and **Battilla** vested in plaintiffs no cause of action. It removed the bar of the statute to plaintiffs' assertion of a cause of action. But plaintiffs had, at most, a mere expectation that they had a cause of action they could subsequent pursue, and а decision, holding the statute to be constitutional, could not and does not deprive them of any vested rights.

Eddings v. Volkswagenwerk, A.G., 635 F. Supp. 45, 47 (N.D. Fla. 1986) (granting summary judgment for defendant manufacturer).

well-reasoned decision, federal In another а constitutional attack on the application of the statute of repose was rejected in Lamb v. Volkswagenwerk Aktiengesellschaft, 631 F. Supp. 1144 (S.D. Fla. 1986). FULTON offers an excerpt which is reflective of the Court's reasoning:

-9-

The Plaintiff in the instant case had no vested contract or property right prior to the Pullum decision; instead Plaintiff was merely pursuing a common law tort theory to recover damages. Indeed the statute of repose and the lapse of the twelve year statutory period obviated the very possibility of Plaintiff sustaining legal injury from the Volkswagen anv vehicle. It is axiomatic that common law rights may be restricted, indeed even abolished by the legislature if "grounded both in an overpowering public necessity and an absence of any less onerous means." alternative Overland Construction Co. v. Sirmons, 369 So.2d at 572.

*

*

Although Plaintiff has alleged that the Florida statute of repose violates federal due process rights, Plaintiff has failed to note that the Supreme Court has dismissed, for want of а federal question, several appeals of state court decisions upholding statutes of repose. A number of state courts have . . . construed the dismissal of statute of repose cases by the Supreme Court as an indication that the Court does not federal constitutional perceive any problems with these statutes. See Shibuya v. Architects Hawaii Limited, 65 Hawaii 26, 647 P.2d 288 n.15 (1982); Harmon v. Angus R. Jessup Associates, 619 S.W.2d 522, 524 (Tenn. 1981). Whatever weight other courts may attach to these summary affirmances, it seems to us that if anything, they support our conclusion that Plaintiff's federal constitutional not abridged rights are bv the revitalization of the Florida statute of repose.

631 F. Supp. at 1149, 1151-52

*

-10-

Whether viewed as an application of a statute which was constitutional from its enactment, or as a retroactive application of **Pullum**, the Plaintiffs below simply had no vested rights at the time of the subject accident. Therefore, the Florida Constitution and the United States Constitution were not offended by the judgment.

In closing on the constitutional question, if it is appropriate to apply equity in making such a determination, Which would equities are with FULTON. be the more inequitable: to apply а statute which had been constitutional since its enactment (if not so declared) or to apply the law of the Battilla case which we all know was wrong?

III.

AN ACTION AGAINST A MANUFACTURER FOR FAILURE TO WARN OF ITS PRODUCT'S PROPENSITIES IS A "PRODUCTS LIABILITY" ACTION SUBJECT TO THE STATUTE OF REPOSE.

Petitioners' position that products liability actions include only claims founded on the "design or manufacture" of products (and not claims for failure to warn) is contrary to law and to logic. The best authorities on the point are the statutes of repose and limitation themselves.

By its terms, the statute of repose applies to "[a]ctions for products liability . . . under [§] 95.11

-11-

KIMBRELL & HAMANN, P.A.

(3)." Section 95.031(2), Fla. Stat. (1979). Thus, we turn to the statute of limitations to determine what type of lawsuits are subject to the statute of repose. Section 95.11(3)(e) is not limited to strict liability and negligence claims founded on design or manufacturing defects alone. That statute applies to actions for personal injury "founded on the design, manufacture, *distribution, or sale* of personal property." (emphasis added).

Plainly the statutes apply to cases in which the manufacturer's liability is not based on its acts or omissions in designing or manufacturing products. What other basis could there be for such liability? FULTON submits that a failure to warn case is the classic (and nearly exclusive) example of a situation imposing liability for the "distribution or sale" of a product where nothing is actionable concerning the design and manufacturing Such a case seems naturally to be included in processes. the sphere of products liability.

The scholars of product liability law include the manufacturers' duty to warn as an "area of products liability [law]." IA L. Frumer & M. Friedman, *Products Liability* § 8.01 (1986). *See also, e.g.,* 2 R. Hursh & H. Bailey, *American Law of Products Liability* § 12:4 (2d ed. 1974). That categorization includes a manufacturer's postsale continuing duty to warn. IA L. Frumer, *supra*, § 8.02.

-12-

KIMBRELL & HAMANN, P.A.

The fact that duty-to-warn cases are products liability cases is chronicled in many common places. For example, the Bible of the researcher, the Digest, groups the cases under the Products Liability "key numbers" (Trademark registered) such as no. 14. *E.g.*, 27 West's Florida Digest 2d at 449 (1985).

Albeit without much ado, this Court recognized that failure to warn claims fell within the ambit of products liability in *The Florida Bar Re: Amendment to Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 1.100(c)* (etc.), 488 So.2d 57 (Fla. 1986), wherein the Court held that all Complaints must be filed with a Civil Cover Sheet, Form 1.997. The instructions to that form include the following:

II. Type of Case. Place an "X" in the appropriate box. If the cause fits more than one type of case, select the most definitive. Definitions of the cases are provided below.

* * *

(K) **Products** Liability - all matters involving injury to person property allegedly resulting from the manufacture or sale of a defective product or from a failure to warn.

488 So.2d at 60 (emphasis added). FULTON reminds the Court that Petitioners cited *no* authority for the proposition that failure to warn claims are not products liability actions.

-13-

KIMBRELL & HAMANN, P.A.

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